St. Mary’s Church, Fawley

Church records at Fawley begin in 1573, the original ledger has records from 1573 to 1698. Unfortunately the entries between 1573 and 1608 are practically illegible. Baptisms, “nupt” (nuptials, ie marriages) and “sepult” (burials) are all recorded in the same ledger. This ledger has a “transcription” but unfortunately this was found to have some inaccuracies.

From 1699 to 1765 there are no records at all. This is the time of William Freeman who purchased the Estate

in 1679. He built Fawley Court in 1684 and died there in 1707. There is a record of an Episcopal visit in 1637 with suggestion that the interior of the church be whitewashed, and forty years later (1677) after the Civil War and Interregnum* the church was described as ‘decrepit’. In 1707 John Cooke Freeman inherited the estate and eventually rebuilt the church in 1748.

(*Interregnum – the interval of time between the end of a sovereign’s reign and the accession of a successor, or a period of temporary suspension of the usual functions of government or control.)

In 1715-16 we had the Jacobite Rebellion and later, the second Jacobite uprising of 1745-6 when attempts were made to restore the Stuarts to the throne. Between these two uprisings, in 1730, John Wesley founded the Methodist movement in nearby Oxford and in 1732 colonists left England to settle Georgia (the same year Conrad Beissel founded the Seventh Day Baptists in Pennsylvania). 

1756 to 1763 The Seven Years War

1765 The Regency Act was passed in England and the Industrial revolution began a new era.

Fawley church records resumed in 1766, though compulsory registration of births, deaths and marriages didn’t start until 1st July 1837.

1766 to 1812, 324 burials in the churchyard and 1 in the chapel are recorded. Then from 1813 to the present day over 750 burials and this record book was still in use in the late 1990’s when these notes were made by my daughter for her A-Level archaeology project. 

Unfortunately this project – a full graveyard survey, was ‘lost’ by the College/Edexcel examiners at the time, (the College claimed to have sent it for examination while the examiners claimed not to have received it !), though she does still have the research notes and some original photographs.

